# The reform of the Committee on World Food Security (CFS)

Is it having consequences for its democratic legitimacy?

In this paper an assessment will be performed on the legitimacy of the CFS before and after the 2009 reform. The CFS organisational structure before and after 2009 will be laid alongside the theory of democratic legitimacy to determine the level of legitimacy and therewith, the consequences of the CFS reform on the committee's democratic legitimacy.

Written by:

Inge Roording (931014-706-050)

Supervision:

Greetje Schouten

Department:

Public Administration and Policy Group (Wageningen University)

# BSc thesis Economics and Governance

# Public Administration and Policy Group

# **Table of contents**

1. Introduction	2
2. Background	3
2.1 The Committee on World Food Safety (CFS)	3
3. Theoretical framework	4
4. Research approach	5
4.1. Methodology	5
4.2. Conceptual framework	5
4.2.1. No output legitimacy	5
4.2.2. Distinguishing input AND throughput legitimacy	6
4.2.3. Determining the criteria of democratic legitimacy	6
4.2.4. Operationalising the criteria	7
5. CFS's organisational structure –before and after –	8
5.1. Before	8
5.2. After	9
6. CFS's democratic legitimacy –before and after –	11
7. Conclusion	13
8. Discussion	14
References	

# 1. Introduction

Ever since living in a more and more globalised world, separating issues in the political, economic and environmental arenas have become no longer possible (Boyer, 1990). This requires broader institutions, broader perspectives, comprehensive approaches and more participation when it comes to governing activities (Boyer, 1990). Therefore, governments are no longer the sole ruler when it comes to public policy; "the ways in which we govern are moving beyond governmental boundaries" (Wachhaus, 2014, p. 574). This process, often phrased as 'shifting from government to governance', can be described as "steering society through less direct means and weakening the power of the State to control policy" (Peters and Pierre, 1998. p.225), with more emphasis on networks, partnerships and (international) markets (Peters and Pierre, 1998; Wachhaus, 2014). The question is however, whether or not the increasing focus on "collaboration, horizontal relationships, networking, decentralization, and indirect provision of government services through contractual relationships with private and non-profit organizations" (Wachhaus, 2014, p. 574) inherently makes these governance principles legitimate.

A case study on the Committee on World Food Security (CFS) will be the base of this paper. The CFS serves as a "forum in the United Nations (UN) System for review and follow-up of policies concerning world food security" (Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO), 2015a, p1). One can speak of food security when "all people, at all times, have physical, social and economic access to sufficient safe and nutritious food that meets their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life." (FAO, 2015b). Aiming for food security is not achieved by just redistributing the food supply. Food security is interlinked with themes like population growth, food price fluctuations, degradation of farm lands and water scarcity (Calestous, 2012), which makes it quite a complex problem to solve. The complexity of this problem might be a reason for states to shift (in a certain degree) from government to governance – e.g. public private partnerships (PPPs) (Peters and Pierre, 1998, p. 224). After its reform in 2009 the CFS can be argued to be a 'light' version of a PPP with the highest degree of state involvement where private actors are solely consulted (Elsig and Amalric, 2008, p. 391). The CFS undertook this reform as to become "more effective by including a wider group of stakeholders and increasing its ability to promote polices that reduce food insecurity" (FAO, 2015a, p.1). The CFS profiling itself as the "most inclusive international and intergovernmental platform for all stakeholders" (FAO, 2015a, p.1) after the 2009 reform is quite an ambitious statement, and if true, highly valued by society. An assessment on this however is important to make sure the CFS genuinely is an organisation meeting the societal norms and values. Such an assessment can provide the CFS new insights to adjust to new environments and to improve its performance in the future.

The research question of this paper is as follows: *Did the 2009 reform of the CFS have consequences for the committee's democratic legitimacy? And, in what way?* In order to answer this question a conceptual framework will be built based on the theory of input and throughput legitimacy. Different important criteria will be defined to assess the level of legitimacy of the CFS before and after the 2009 reform. The former and current CFS organisational structure and formalities will be described which will be laid along the conceptual framework to perform the actual analysis. After making the concluding remarks on the performed analysis, a discussion paragraph will end this paper discussing potential drawbacks, striking conclusions and potential future research.

# 2. Background

Over the last few years, with the global financial and economic crisis and soaring food prices, food security has become a more important subject on the public agenda (FAO, 2015a). Moreover, "the reduction of hunger and malnutrition in the world remains one of the key objectives of the UN" (p. 385). The first Millennium Development Goal to be achieved in 2015 is the eradication of extreme poverty and hunger (United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), 2015a). The post-2015 agenda will probably have more or less the same themes to handle, including food security. The focus however, will be more on effective implementation, based on principles like "participation, inclusion, and the need for strengthened capacities and partnerships" (UNDP, 2015b). The CFS is an example of a UN forum having incorporated the need to hear the voices of other stakeholders.

# 2.1 The Committee on World Food Safety (CFS)

After the first World Food Conference, the CFS was established in 1974 to make proposals for the FAO based on policy reviews regarding global food security (Schutter, de, 2012). Initially, the CFS was a purely intergovernmental committee, no private actors were involved. This changed after the 2007-2008 food price crisis which moved food security up the UN agenda (Schutter, de, 2012; Brem-Wilson, 2015). It became clear that the global governance regarding food security was not performing as well as it should (Schutter, de, 2012; Brem-Wilson, 2015). Even before this food price crisis there were doubts about the CFSs performance; several reform proposals have been done mostly concerned with the absence of civil society participation (Brem-Wilson, 2015). However, the food price crisis was the final trigger; the CFS should become "more effective by including a wider group of stakeholders and increasing its ability to promote polices that reduce food insecurity." (FAO, 2015b).

The CFS still is an intergovernmental committee; its members only represent governments. Other stakeholders¹ are so-called 'participants' in the CFSs Advisory Group, who have the same rights as members, except regarding to the voting and ultimate decision making (Schutter, de, 2012). According to Elsig and Amalric (2008), it is therefore reasoned that the actual CFS is a public-private collaboration with the highest degree of state involvement, falling in the category of "consultation of private actors" (Elsig and Amalric, 2008, p. 390-391). "Throughout the regulatory process [...]" the CFS "[...] seeks information from corporations or members of civil society directly affected by regulatory decisions" (p.390). It is argued that this information exchange reduces information asymmetries which may lead to higher acceptance along the stakeholders and higher compliance rates regarding the regulations implemented (Elsig and Amalric, 2008). This reasoning is in line with the CFS's goal to become more effective.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Divided in 5 categories: 1) UN agencies and other UN bodies; 2) civil society and non-governmental organisations (NGOs); 3) international agricultural research institutions; 4) international and regional financial institutions; and, 5) private sector associations and philanthropic foundations. (FAO, 2015a)

# 3. Theoretical framework

Legitimacy is a broadly used concept which is difficult to define; multiple disciplines use this concept in different ways, making it quite an ambiguous concept. The following definition, derived from Suchman (1995) tries to capture the several uses of the concept (Koppell, 2008, p. 181):

"Legitimacy is a generalized perception or assumption that the actions of an entity are desirable, proper, or appropriate within some socially constructed system of norms, values, beliefs and definitions. (Suchman, 1995, p. 574)."

Such a broadly used concept does indicate that people value entities (e.g. organisations and governance principles) meeting the societal norms, values, beliefs and definitions. One might argue that the norm 'the end does not (necessarily) justify the means' is the base of society. It is often argued that meeting the norms, values, beliefs and definitions of society probably increase the acceptation of certain regimes, smoothening the implementation phase. It is therefore important to assess existing governing organisations and principles on their legitimacy to examine whether they are in their right of existence.

For the purpose of this paper, it is most convenient to elaborate on democratic legitimacy specifically. The CFS, as an intergovernmental body of the UN, inherently is based on democracy. One of the core values of the UN is democracy: "the will of the people is the source of legitimacy of sovereign states and therefore of the United Nations as a whole" (UN, 2015a). The UN, and its bodies, enables dialogue between its members and serves as a mechanism for governments to find agreements on a variety of issues (UN, 2015b), all with respect to human rights and fundamental freedoms (UN, 2015a). A literature review on democratic legitimacy will be given below.

Roughly speaking, one might say that democratic legitimacy "comes from citizens believing that democracy can produce some 'good outcomes'" (Huang et al., 2008, p. 46). The notion of democratic legitimacy originates from the political legitimacy literature (Huang et al., 2008). Two perspectives on political legitimacy can be identified: a) the system level perspective, and b) an individual level perspective (Weatherford, 1992). The former perspective does have a focus on the constitutional provisions –the formal structures –of governments which enable for example public participation. This perspective focusses on attributes like accountability, efficiency, procedural fairness, and distributive fairness (Weatherford, 1992). The latter perspective - the individual level perspective-"highlights three aspects of the dynamics of public opinion, in explaining citizens' attitudes and actions vis-a-vis the regime" (Weatherford, 1992, p. 151): a) political interest and involvement, b) beliefs about interpersonal and social relations relevant to collective action, and c) optimism about the responsiveness of the political system (Weatherford, 1992, p. 151). Both perspectives do not have (or have a limited) focus on performance or effectiveness, which is exactly the key to democratic legitimacy, having a focus on input (Lieberherr, 2013). Assessing democratic legitimacy can be performed by using the notions of input, throughput and output legitimacy (Bekkers and Edwards, 2007).

The distinction between input and output legitimacy has been used for the first time by Scharpf (1999) to explain the process of European integration (Kersbergen, van and Waarden, van, 2004). Whereas input legitimacy is about democratising the decision-making process through including affected actors through formal channels, output legitimacy is about the results of certain governance practices (Lieberherr, 2013). Throughput legitimacy is often referred to as the intermediary

dimension between input and output legitimacy, it emphasises democratic procedural criteria, focussing on quality of interactions and procedures (Lieberherr, 2013). This intermediary form of legitimacy can be based on two forms. It can either be based on democratic regulatory legitimacy, which can be gained by democratic feedback loops (e.g. by legal sanctions or incentives via rule of law), or on performance-oriented procedures, which emphasises efficiency and competition (Lieberherr, 2013).

# 4. Research approach

# 4.1. Methodology

The assessment on the democratic legitimacy of the CFS will be based on a literature study. To determine whether or not the CFS reform in 2009 has had consequences for the committee's democratic legitimacy, the available literature and other information sources are expected to be sufficient.

Assessing the CFS's former and current democratic legitimacy will be performed through three steps (represented by three chapters). At first, the available literature around democratic legitimacy –and specifically the literature regarding input and throughput legitimacy –will be explored and analysed to come to a conceptual framework specifically designed for the assessment of the CFS. This conceptual framework will represent the main criteria to reach a certain degree in input and throughput legitimacy, based on existing literature. After developing the conceptual framework, the former and actual organisational structure of the CFS will be discussed. This information will mostly be derived from official CFS and UN sources, complemented by (academic) articles discussing the CFS reform. The third step –the actual assessment –will most probably not require additional literature since it 'solely' consists of the application of the already developed conceptual framework on the case.

# 4.2. Conceptual framework

In this paper, the notions of input and throughput legitimacy will be used to assess the democratic legitimacy of the CFS, before and after the 2009 reform. An important notion is that that both kinds of legitimacy have many criteria which might benefit the level of legitimacy of an organisation or governance regime. Therefore, a specific conceptual framework will be built serving the specific case of the CFS. This inherently means that some criteria will be included, and others will be excluded in this assessment. The paragraphs below will elaborate on this conceptual framework and how it came to be.

# 4.2.1. No output legitimacy

Like stated above, the notions of input, throughput and output legitimacy can be used as "norms or criteria for assessing the democratic legitimacy of governance practices" (Bekkers and Edwards, 2007, p. 43). In this paper, these notions will also be used. Output legitimacy however, will not be included for the following reason. Output legitimacy "concerns the capacity of government to produce certain output or outcomes that actually contribute to remedying collective problems" (Bekkers and Edwards, 2007, p. 45). It is not about the capacity itself, but the intended and unintended effects caused by governance practices (Bekkers and Edwards, 2007). Since output legitimacy (effectiveness) is difficult to measure and is regarded to have no (direct) focus on

democratic norms and principles it is not included in this paper's conceptual framework. However, it is important to mention that the notions of input, throughput, and output legitimacy are interlinked concepts; output legitimacy is assumed by many to benefit from high levels of input, and throughput legitimacy.

## 4.2.2. Distinguishing input AND throughput legitimacy

Why making a distinction between input and throughput legitimacy if throughput legitimacy is often categorised as input legitimacy (Lieberherr, 2013; Schmidt, 2013)? By distinguishing throughput legitimacy next to input legitimacy, there is differentiated focus on what is going on in the so-called 'black box' (processes) alongside the participation-oriented input legitimacy (politics) (Schmidt, 2013). The use of both kinds of legitimacy offers a broader view on how to gain democratic legitimacy than when only input legitimacy would be included. This will enable this assessment to be more precise on the different criteria leading (or not leading) to democratic legitimacy.

# 4.2.3. Determining the criteria of democratic legitimacy

Following on Bekkers and Edwards (2007), Lieberherr (2013) and Schmidt (2013) it is possible to develop a conceptual framework to be used for the specific case of the CFS. The most evident criteria and/or norms for input- and throughput legitimacy will be at the base of this conceptual framework, requiring it to be relevant for the CFS.

Concepts like participation and representation are often reoccurring concepts regarding input legitimacy literature. Enabling affected actors<sup>2</sup> to express their wishes and demands in political decision making is key to input legitimacy (Bekkers and Edwards, 2007; Schmidt, 2013). Moreover, these enabled opportunities to express ones interests might contribute to the input legitimacy to ranging degrees. If affected actors have the direct right to vote on a proposed policy, one might consider this to contribute to a high degree to the organisation's input legitimacy, while an arrangement only consulting the affected actors contributes in a lower degree to the input legitimacy than the former (Lieberherr, 2013, p.6). Furthermore, expression through participation or through representation does also have different consequences to the input legitimacy. Since the interests of the representatives and the represented actors might not (fully) overlap (Bekkers and Edwards, 2007), the principle of representation should be evaluated with care before concluding to what degree it contributes to the input-legitimacy. At last, "the openness of the agenda setting process" (Bekkers and Edwards, 2007, p. 44) also influences the input legitimacy. Though, for the sake of this case, the CFS -inherently dealing food security issues -, this norm will not be included in this conceptual framework. The openness of the agenda setting is assumed to be more relevant for policy making processes within national governments or transnational governance principles not bounded to one specific theme (e.g. the European Union).

So-called 'checks and balances' may be seen as quite a clearly defined requirement that can contribute to throughput legitimacy. As defined by Bekkers and Edwards (2007) "checks and balances include any institutional devices that constrain the use of power by politicians" (p. 45). These 'checks

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> With regards to this case study, affected actors include all governmental and non-governmental organisations (e.g. governments, civil society organisations and private businesses) and the like who have anything on their agenda related to food security and/or nutrition. In the broadest sense it can be said that every individual is an affected actor since food security touches all.

and balances' are very important to enable minority groups or minority interests to be heard (Bekkers and Edwards, 2007). 'Checks and balances' may contribute to another norm of throughput legitimacy: accountability (Lieberherr, 2013). Accountability mechanisms like citizen complaint boards, audit procedures and accountability panels serve as democratic feedback loops to make sure members of an organisation can be held accountable for their actions (Buntaine, 2015). Despite the fact that accountability is often key to a legitimate organisation, it is argued that it is not key in the case for the CFS. The CFS has not ever been an enforcing body, but mostly an advisory body, makes that their decision making -their advice -does not have direct implications for the affected actors unless implemented by enforcing bodies. Accountability mechanisms like complaint boards and audit procedures are expected not to be implemented within the CFS, due to the fact that they are more at the beginning of the decision making chain, in the end leading to enforcement of law. Moreover, the CFS regards itself to be partially responsible for the encouragement and promotion of accountability (FAO, 2013a; FAO, 2015a); they provide a feedback loop themselves. Transparency is yet another important norm to mention (Bekkers and Edwards, 2007; Schmidt, 2013). Transparency about content and procedures of the decision making process is beneficial for the quality of participation (Bekkers and Edwards, 2007), and therefore the throughput legitimacy. Other concepts mentioned in the throughput legitimacy literature are terms like efficacy (Schmidt, 2013) and cost utility (Lieberherr, 2013). These concepts -in this paper regarded to be less involved with democratic principles -occur in throughput legitimacy literature simply because it covers the space between input and output legitimacy (Schmidt, 2013). This intermediary form of legitimacy therefore consists of norms on procedures related to participation as well as results. Efficacy and utility are considered to be more related to results than participation, which has led to the decision not to include these concepts in the conceptual framework. Please note table 1 for the operationalisation of the inputand throughput legitimacy regarding the case of the CFS.

Table 1: Conceptual framework for assessing the democratic legitimacy of the CFS

Legitimacy	Criteria
Input	<ul> <li>Affected actors are enabled to express their interests and demands in the decision making process of the CFS</li> </ul>
Throughput	- Control of power
	- Transparency

# 4.2.4. Operationalising the criteria

The assessment will purely consist of a comparison between the former organisational structure and the actual organisational structure of the CFS. Since the assessment deals with one committee, a description of aspects contributing and opposing to the determined criteria will be perfectly able to examine the possible consequences for the CFS's democratic legitimacy, and on whether it has improved or declined.

# Affected actors are enabled to express their interests and demands in the decision making process of the CFS

This is a criterion that can be met at different degrees ranging along a long continuum depending on a variety of factors. If affected actors are directly heard and their interests are taken into account regarding the content of the agreement, it is argued that this criterion is met close to the highest degree at the continuum. The lower their influence on the agreement (i.e. the decision making process) the lower the satisfaction of this criterion. Moreover, the representation may also have an

influence on this criterion. Since representation can have implications for the degree to which the affected actor's interests are truly represented, the form of representation is of great importance for this criterion to be met at a high degree.

# Control of power

Control of power can be partly ensured by so-called checks and balances. "Any institutional device that constrain the use of power by politicians, bureaucracies and private stakeholders" (Bekkers and Edwards, 2007, p. 45) can be defined as checks and balances. With checks and balances one can think of legal sanctions or incentives via rule of law for example (Lieberherr, 2013). Many mechanisms are possible, some might be more effective than others though; it is imaginable that some mechanisms contain some loopholes. Moreover, it is argued that mechanisms providing equal opportunities for all actors involved, contribute more to throughput legitimacy than mechanisms partly favouring specific actors.

### **Transparency**

Information sharing is a necessity to be transparent. Self-evident are the multiple ways to share (and not share) your information. Unfortunately, it is impossible to detect what is not shared. The shared information can be reasonably assessed trough the following factors: a) timing of information sharing and, b) with whom the information is shared. Disclosing information during the meeting is regarded to not be as beneficial (and transparent) as disclosing it beforehand. Sharing the information solely with the attendees of a meeting is regarded to be less transparent than when information is shared with all affected actors.

# 5. CFS's organisational structure -before and after -

The 1974 World Food Conference recommended to establish a Committee on World Food Security (Duncan, 2014). This was mainly decided upon due to the then adopted *International Undertaking on World Food Security* required "continuing intergovernmental consultations so that timely action can be taken by the international community to remedy any difficulty foreseen in assuring adequate cereal supplies for minimum world food security" (FAO, 1975, VI/A/351).

# 5.1. Before

The CFS was open to all member nations of the FAO and all member states of the UN (FAO, 1975). The CFS consisted of those states who had notified the Director-General of the FAO to be interested in becoming members and to have the intention to participate in the work of the CFS (FAO, 1975). When approved by the Director-General, the membership would be valid for a period of two years (FAO, 1975). Moreover, consultants may be incorporated by the FAO to assists the secretariat with tasks like agenda setting (Duncan, 2014). Others (e.g. non-member nations, inter-governmental organisations, and non-governmental organisations (NGOs)) were also allowed to attend the CFS meetings as observant, with the requirement that these others had established relations with the CFS (Duncan, 2014).

The main functions of the CFS have changed over time, with the establishment the CFS was mandated with four tasks:

- a) Keep the current and prospective demand, supply and stock position for basic foodstuffs under continuous review, in the context of world food security, and disseminate timely information on developments;
- b) Make periodic evaluations of the adequacy of current and prospective stock levels, in aggregate, in exporting end 'importing countries, in order to assure a regular flow of basic foodstuffs to meet requirements in domestic and world markets, including food aid requirements, in time of short crops and serious crop failure;
- c) Review the steps taken by governments to implement the international Undertaking on World Food Security; and
- d) Recommend such short-term and longer-term policy action as may be considered necessary to remedy any difficulty foreseen in assuring adequate cereal supplies for minimum world food security

(FAO, 1975, VI/A/351/RULE XXXIII/5)

The objective of the CFS was renewed in accordance with the outcomes of the World Food Summit in 1997 (Duncan, 2014). The initial task to "review the steps taken by governments to implement the International Undertaking on World Food Security" shifted towards the monitoring of "the implementation of the Plan of Action adopted by the World Food Summit in accordance with the relevant commitment of the Summit" (Duncan, 2014, p. 114). This change gave room for a bigger role for civil society. Objective 7.3 of the Rome Declaration on World Food Security acknowledges the critical role of civil society in enhancing world food security, therefore "the effective participation of relevant actors of civil society in the CFS monitoring process" (FAO, 1996, Objective 7.3/g) is encouraged.

The findings of the CFS regarding the implementation of the Plan of Action, on both regional and international level, are based on "reports of national governments, reports on UN agency follow-up and inter-agency coordination, and information from other relevant international institutions" (FAO, 1996, Objective 7.3/e). These findings have been reported to the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) via the FAO Council (FAO, 1996).

The organisational structure before the 2009 reform was solely comprised of the Committee and its Secretary (FAO, 1998). The Secretary of the CFS is appointed by the Director-General of the FAO and supports the Committee there were it is required (FAO, 1998). Furthermore, a Chairperson and a Vice-Chairperson were elected by the Members of the Committee (FAO, 1998).

In consultation with the Chairman, the Director-General of the FAO provided a provisional agenda in advance of each session (FAO, 1998). This provisional agenda got distributed at least three months before the session. (FAO, 1998). All Members; Associate Members of the FAO; all Members of the UN; and, all other attendees of the session received this provisional agenda (FAO, 1998). Documents corresponding to an item on the agenda were distributed as soon as possible after the provisional agenda was sent (if not distributed already) (FAO, 1998).

# 5.2. After

The aim of the CFS reform was to become "'the foremost inclusive international and intergovernmental platform' to combat hunger and malnutrition and realize the right to food for all" (Schutter, de, 2012). The current CFS still is an intergovernmental committee (FAO, 2009), which is

composed of so-called "members, participants and observers" (FAO, 2009, p. 3) aiming to achieve a balance between both inclusiveness and effectiveness.

The membership is slightly changed when comparing it with the former CFS. Aside opening CFS to all member states of the UN and all members of the FAO, members of the World Food Programme (WFP) and the international Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) are nowadays also allowed to become members. CFS Members have an exclusive voting and decision-making right, furthermore they have "the right to intervene in plenary and breakout discussions, approve meeting documents and agendas, submit and present documents and formal proposals, and interact with the Bureau during the inter-sessional period." (FAO, 2009, p.4).

The committee is open to Participants, having the same rights as Members except for the voting and decision taking rights, from one of the following categories:

- a) UN agencies with specific mandates in the field of food security and nutrition and other UN bodies working in related fields;
- b) civil society and non-governmental organisations (NGOs) strongly related to issues of food security and nutrition<sup>3</sup>;
- c) international agricultural research institutions;
- d) international and regional financial institutions; and,
- e) private sector associations –representing the positions and interests of business enterprises and corporations –, and philanthropic foundations.

(FAO, 2015a; FAO, 2009)

In accordance with the General Rules of the FAO Observers have been allowed to the CFS since its establishment (Duncan, 2014). Observers can be either invited to attend a meeting or several meetings, as well as apply for it (FAO, 2009).

As the CFS states, the current organisational structure "allows input from all stakeholders at global, regional and national levels" (FAO, 2015c). The central body of the CFS is the Plenary, it is the central body "for decision-taking, debate, coordination, lesson-learning and convergence by all stakeholders at global level on issues pertaining to food security and nutrition and on the implementation of the Voluntary Guidelines to Support the Progressive Realization of the Right to Adequate Food in the Context of National Food Security." (FAO, 2009, p. 6). Members and Participants are part of the Plenary. Furthermore the CFS includes the Bureau, the Advisory Group, the High-Level Panel of Experts on Food Security and Nutrition (HLPE), and the Secretariat (FAO, 2015c; FAO, 2013b). The Bureau is the executive body of the CFS, consisting of a Chairperson and twelve Members elected by the Committee (FAO, 2013b). The Bureau is mainly responsible for preparatory tasks for the meetings like the preparations of the documents and the agenda (FAO, 2013b). Moreover, the Bureau will facilitate coordination among Members, Participants and all other relevant actors (FAO, 2013b). The Advisory Group, consisting of Participants (chosen by the Bureau), assists the Bureau by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "With particular attention to organisations representing smallholder family farmers, artisanal fisherfolk, herders/pastoralists, landless, urban poor, agricultural and food workers, women, youth, consumers, Indigenous Peoples, and International NGOs whose mandates and activities are concentrated in the areas of concern to the Committee." (FAO, 2009, p. 4)

"sharing their expertise and knowledge of the broad range of organizations it represents" (FAO, 2013b, p. 122) ensuring "linkages with different stakeholders at regional, sub-regional and local levels" (FAO, 2015c). The HLPE is built upon two components: a) the Steering Committee, and b) adhoc Project Teams (FAO, 2013b). The HLPE provides a scientific-based view and advice on the food security and nutrition issues (FAO, 2015c). The ad-hoc project teams are responsible for draft reports, whereas the Steering Committee direct and oversee these reports to come to final reports for the CFS (FAO, 2013b). All sub-departments of the CFS are assisted by the Secretariat accommodated at the FAO headquarters in Rome (FAO, 2013b).

The provisional agendas of the sessions are prepared by the Bureau in consultation with the Members and the Advisory Group (FAO, 2013b). These provisional agendas are distributed at least two months prior to the sessions among all members of the committee (Members and Participants); all members of the FAO, the WFP, and the IFAD; all members of the UN not being member of the former mentioned organisations; and, all the observers attending the session (FAO, 2013b). Documents associated with the items on the agenda are provided as soon as possible after the provisional agenda has been distributed, if not already available (FAO, 2013b).

# 6. CFS's democratic legitimacy -before and after -

In this chapter, the conceptual framework developed in chapter four, will be applied to the CFS's organisational structure. All determined criteria will be elaborated on separately, applying it on both the CFS's organisational structure before and after the 2009 reform.

# Affected actors are enabled to express their interests and demands in the decision making process of the CFS

Regarding this criterion it is argued that affected actors have received more formal possibilities to express their interest and demands after the 2009 reform. When looking at the former and current structure of the CFS (please note *table 2*), it is evident that by the inclusion of the Advisory Group and the HLPE non-governmental bodies like NGO's, civil society groups and scientists have received more formal pathways to be heard during the decision making process. Although, the fact that these non-governmental actors have no voting rights makes their actual influence on the decision making questionable. Furthermore, especially regarding the Advisory Group, it must be considered that the Participants are chosen by the Bureau. The most recent update by the FAO (2015d) shows that the first category of Participants (UN agencies and other UN bodies) is the biggest supplier of Participants to the Advisory Group. This leads to a significant portion of the Advisory Group is not represented by non-governmental actors. Yet, it should be considered that the CFS is the first UN-body where "representatives of small-scale food producers and other civil society organizations, along with private sector associations and other stakeholders" got a full participants status instead of having only an observer status (McKeon, 2009).

All in all, the CFS is now recognised to be a significant forum (Duncan, 2014; McKeon, 2011). Important actors like the World Bank, agrifood cooperations, and the USA have returned to have their voice heard again, while being highly critical about the CFS before the reform (McKeon, 2011). Furthermore, primary passive regions (e.g. in Africa) "are making efforts to build up their presence" (McKeon, 2011, p. 16). This leads to the thought that affected actors (either governmental or non-governmental) expect to be heard by the CFS, and therefore expect to have some influence.

Overall, it is argued that affected actors have formally more possibilities to express their interest and demands in the decision making of the CFS, and do make use of these possibilities. This is enabled by the new organisational structure adopted during the 2009 reform.

Table 2: Overview of the CFS structure, before and after the 2009 reform

C	CFS (before reform)	CFS (afte	CFS (after reform)	
Secretariat		Secre	Secretariat	
Committee	Members	Plenary	Members and	
			Participants	
		The Bureau	Elected Members	
		The Advisory Group	Elected Participants	
			(chosen by the Bureau)	
		The High-Level Panel	Scientists and experts	
		of Experts on Food		
		Security and Nutrition		
		(HLPE)		

# Control of power

Regardless the reform, the CFS has not ever been an enforcing intergovernmental body, which probably makes that checks and balances, like legal sanctions and incentives via rule of law, are not implemented within the CFS. Therefore, the control of power within the CFS seems to be mostly based on democratic rules, like the voting rights.

Important to mention here is that this criterion is highly intertwined with the former criterion. The inclusion of other kinds of affected actors (i.e. Participants) most probably leads to another distribution of power, which might be a reason to enforce or adapt the checks and balances. Solely looking at the voting rights it is argued that the 'level playing field' has worsened. Before the reform all Members had one vote (FAO, 1998); all participating affected actors had the same rights and possibilities. Nowadays, all Members still have one vote (disregarding being part of the Bureau), whereas Participants have no voting rights at all (FAO, 2013b). It is therefore argued that there is no equal power distribution between governmental and non-governmental bodies. However, the fact that Participants are allowed in the decision making process, -despite having no voting rights – can be seen as a mechanism to control power itself. Members may have the full power regarding the voting rights, but these new involved affected actors have the power to increase the pressure on the Members to do the 'right' thing. As stated by de Schutter (2012): "the participation of civil society in global fora and the role of expert knowledge are key in moving towards [...] the deepening of international cooperation. This increases the likelihood that governments will be pressured into action and will not be allowed to stand still." (p. 482).

The facilitation of the Bureau of the coordination among Members, Participants, and all other relevant actors does raise some questions about the power distribution, too. After all, this facilitation might imply some power in the interaction processes, defining certain 'rules of the game'.

## **Transparency**

Regarding to the CFS's own membership, one might argue that, according to the rules of procedure, all required information before meetings are timely distributed. Accept that the deadline for the provisional agenda has shortened from three months in advance to two months in advance of a session, nothing has changed regarding the transparency towards the CFS's own membership.

A striking point however is the transparency regarding the public other than those informed anyway. Much information seems to be available, yet not in the most convenient manner. The website of the CFS for example, does only provide the final reports from the 35<sup>th</sup> session (2009) onwards, while the FAO provides all the final reports since the 24<sup>th</sup> session (1998). Moreover, one might argue that the website of the CFS has a strong focus on the 2009 reform and the period afterwards, slightly overruling the period before the 2009 reform including its original structure, former activities, decisions and therewith, their performance. This detracts the current level of transparency. It is hard to say whether or not information was shared with the public before the CFS reform. Scholars writing about the CFS oftentimes refer to the CFS reform and/or the 2008 food price crisis and are therefore written in approximately the last seven years. What should be considered here is the influence of the internet in the last two decades, which makes it inherently easier to share information with the public. This should be taken into account when assessing the transparency criterion.

# 7. Conclusion

The research question: 'Did the 2009 reform of the CFS have consequences for the committee's democratic legitimacy? And, in what way?' is not answered that easily. Following on the above, it can be concluded that the reform of the CFS has had consequences for its democratic legitimacy. Though the interesting question arises to what extent, and whether it has had positive or negative consequences.

In sum, it is argued that more affected actors are formally more enabled to express their interests and demands (i.e. the Participants and the members of the HLPE), though, not all affected actors have direct influence on the decision making due to the fact that nobody, but the Members, has voting rights. Looking solely at formal pathways, it is therefore concluded that the first criterion –on input legitimacy -has improved. Regarding the control of power criterion -on throughput legitimacy -, it is argued that the 'level playing field' within the committee has worsened also due to the unequal voting rights. Additionally, the Bureau can compel more power because it facilitates the coordination between the sub-departments of the CFS, influencing the interactions and therefore partially guiding the decision making process. The inclusion of Participants may serve as a mechanism as well to control the power of the Members. Participants, as well as the members of the HLPE have the ability to pressure the Members to decide justly. Overall, it is argued that despite the unequally distributed voting rights, the control of power has improved. The last transparency criterion –on throughput legitimacy -is argued to be more or less the same before and after the reform. However, this conclusion is made with the assumption that nowadays information sharing is easier than it was in the 1970's and 1980's (and 1990's). Therefore, the fact that there is more information about the CFS in the latter half of its existence is given less weight to measure the transparency level.

Following all the above, it is therefore concluded that the reform had consequences for the democratic legitimacy of the CFS. Two out of the three criteria have improved which supports the

democratic legitimacy of the CFS, leading to the additional conclusion that the democratic legitimacy has improved after the reform.

## 8. Discussion

The overall conclusion made above is that it is most likely that the democratic legitimacy of the CFS has improved after the reform in 2009. To what extent however, may be an interesting question here. With the currently used available literature this cannot be answered accurately and in a somewhat quantitative manner. To answer this accurately, more inside information is needed for example on informal interactions. It is imaginable that lobbying may be a great deal when it comes to the decision making of the CFS, maybe strengthening the influence of affected actors alongside the formal pathways. Moreover, the rules of procedure found at formal FAO and other UN sources may be very promising, but this does not inherently imply that all of it is correctly implemented, or effective. There may be a difference between that what is written on paper and what is happening in practice. This paper, a BSc thesis, could not elaborate on this issue of discussion due to it being based on solely a literature study and the short period of time available to perform the assessment. Regarding the specific case of the CFS it may be interesting to elaborate on the rules of procedure in practice to assess the democratic legitimacy of the CFS more accurately.

This assessment does remind of the ever appealing discussion around the 'shift from government to governance'. To what extent is the inclusion of more and more stakeholders in decision making processes, therewith giving them more power, desirable? This again refers to the three concepts of input, throughput, and output legitimacy. The often held assumption that high levels of input and throughput legitimacy lead to improved levels of output legitimacy might not always hold. It might be difficult to come to efficient, effective and substantive agreements when too many stakeholders are involved; high levels of input (and throughput) might therefore be a risk for output legitimacy as well. The goal of the CFS to become "more effective by including a wider group of stakeholders" (FAO, 2015a, p. 1) may therefore be the hardest thing to achieve. Exactly this goal may have led to not as straight standing fulfilment of the determined criteria. For instance, it is imaginable that it is decided to preserve the voting rights exclusively for Members yet to prevent potential negotiation stalemate. It is therefore imaginable that the CFS has tried to reach optimal levels of input and throughput legitimacy instead of maximum levels.

Following the former paragraph, some thoughts are raised about the used conceptual framework. The different perspectives on the notions of input, throughput and output legitimacy —and how they interact with each other —hold by many scholars, social scientists (and students) inherently means that many approaches are possible to assess an organisation like the CFS. It is important to consider that the perspective of the author self-evidently has great influence on the content of the paper. This assessment does not have to be wrong. It is however, not the ultimate truth either; it should be received by readers in consideration of other possible perspectives and approaches.

# References

Bekkers, V., and A., Edwards, 2007. Legitimacy and Democracy: A Conceptual Framework for Assessing Governance Practices. In: Bekkers, V., Dijkstra, G., Edwards, A., and M., ed. Governance and the Democratic Deficit: Assessing the Democratic Legitimacy of Governance Practices. Aldershot Hampshire: Ashgate. pp. 35-60.

Boyer, W.W., 1990. Political science and the 21st century: From government to governance. *PS: Political Science and Politics*, 23 (1): 50-54. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search: <a href="http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/stable/pdf/419778.pdf?acceptTC=true">http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/stable/pdf/419778.pdf?acceptTC=true</a> [Accessed 21 April 2015]

Brem-Wilson, J., 2015. Towards food sovereignty: interrogating peasant voice in the United Nations Committee on World Food Security. *The Journal of Peasant Studies*, 42 (1): 73-95. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search:

http://www.tandfonline.com.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/doi/pdf/10.1080/03066150.2014.968143 [Accessed 2 April 2015]

Buntaine, M.T., 2015. Accountability in Global Governance: Civil Society Claims for Environmental Performance at the World Bank. *International Studies Quarterly*, 59 (1): 99-111. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search:

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/doi/10.1111/isqu.12145/epdf [Accessed 28 April 2015]

Calestous, J., 2012. Food security: growing trouble. *Nature*, 490 (7421): 483. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search:

http://www.nature.com.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/nature/journal/v490/n7421/pdf/490483a.pdf [Accessed 4 April 2015]

Duncan, J., 2014. The reformed Committee on World Food Security and the global governance of food security. Unpublished Doctoral thesis. City University London. Available at:

http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/3511/1/Duncan%2C\_Jessica.pdf [Accessed 7 May 2015]

Elsig, M., and F., Amalric, 2008. Business and Public–Private Partnerships for Sustainability: Beyond Corporate Social Responsibility? *Global Society*, 22 (3): 387-404. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search:

http://www.tandfonline.com.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/doi/pdf/10.1080/13600820802090538 [Accessed 6 April 2015]

FAO, 2015a. *Committee on World Food Security (CFS) Information note* [pdf]. FAO. Available at: <a href="http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs/Docs0910/InfoNote/CFS">http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs/Docs0910/InfoNote/CFS</a> General Info\_Note\_EN.pdf [Accessed 4 April 2015].

FAO, 2015b. FAO: CFS Home [online]. Available at: <a href="http://www.fao.org/cfs/cfs-home/en/">http://www.fao.org/cfs/cfs-home/en/</a> [Accessed 2 April 2015]

FAO, 2015c. FAO: Structure [online]. Available at: <a href="http://www.fao.org/cfs/cfs-home/cfs-about/cfs-structure/en/">http://www.fao.org/cfs/cfs-home/cfs-about/cfs-structure/en/</a> [Accessed 11 May 2015]

FAO, 2015d. FAO: Bureau & Advisory Group [online]. Available at: <a href="http://www.fao.org/cfs/cfs-home/cfs-about/cfs-members/en/">http://www.fao.org/cfs/cfs-home/cfs-about/cfs-members/en/</a> [Accessed 18 May 2015]

FAO, 2013a. *The Committee on World Food Security (CFS)* [pdf]. Available at: <a href="http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs/Brochure/cfs\_brochure\_EN.pdf">http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs/Brochure/cfs\_brochure\_EN.pdf</a> [Accessed 20 May 2015]

FAO, 2013b. Basic texts of the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Volumes I and II 2013 edition [PDF]. Rome: FAO. Available at:

http://www.fao.org/docrep/meeting/022/K8024E.pdf [Accessed 11 May 2015]

FAO, 2009. *Reform of the committee on world food security final version*. Rome, Italy, 14,15 and 17 October 2009. Rome: FAO. Available at:

http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs/Docs0910/ReformDoc/CFS 2009 2 Rev 2 E K7197.p df [Accessed 13 May 2015]

FAO, 1998. Report of the 24th session of the committee on world food security. Rome, Italy, 2-5 June 1998. Rome: FAO. Available at:

http://www.fao.org/unfao/bodies/council/cl115/w8959e.htm#P640 44285 [Accessed 14 May 2015]

FAO, 1996. Rome Declaration on World Food Security and World Food Summit Plan of Action. Rome, Italy, 13-17 November 1996. Rome: FAO. Available at:

http://www.fao.org/docrep/003/w3613e/w3613e00.htm [Accessed 12 May 2015]

FAO, 1975. Report of the Conference of FAO – eighteenth session. Rome, Italy, 8-27 November 1975. Rome: FAO. Available at: <a href="http://www.fao.org/docrep/x5589E/x5589e00.htm#Contents">http://www.fao.org/docrep/x5589E/x5589e00.htm#Contents</a> [Accessed 8 May 2015].

Huang, M., Chang, Y., and Y., Chu, 2008. Identifying sources of democratic legitimacy: A multilevel analysis. *Electoral Studies*, 27 (1): 45-62. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search: <a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/science/article/pii/S0261379407001023">http://www.sciencedirect.com.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/science/article/pii/S0261379407001023</a> [Accessed 22 April 2015]

Kersbergen, van K., and F., Waarden, van, 2004. 'Governance' as a bridge between disciplines: Cross-disciplinary inspiration regarding shifts in governance and problems of governability, accountability and legitimacy. *European Journal of Political Research*, 43 (2): 143-171. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search:

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/doi/10.1111/j.1475-6765.2004.00149.x/epdf [Accessed 23 April 2015]

Koppell, J.G.S., 2008. Global governance organisations: legitimacy and authority in conflict. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory,* 18 (2): 177-203. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search:

http://jpart.oxfordjournals.org.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/content/18/2/177.full.pdf+html [Accessed 10 April 2015]

Lieberherr, E., 2013. The role of throughput in the input-output legitimacy debate: Insights from public and private governance modes in the Swiss and English water sectors. In: ICPP (International

Conference on Public Policy). *Panel 39: The New Policies of Privatization*. Grenoble, France 26-28 June 2013. Switzerland: the Swiss Federal Institute of Aquatic Science and Technology. Available at: <a href="http://www.icpublicpolicy.org/IMG/pdf/panel">http://www.icpublicpolicy.org/IMG/pdf/panel</a> 39 s2 lieberherr.pdf [Accessed 23 April 2015]

McKeon, N., Global Governance for World Food Security: A Scorecard Four Years After the Eruption of the "Food Crisis" [pdf]. Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung: Berlin. Available at:

https://www.boell.de/sites/default/files/Global-Governance-for-World-Food-Security.pdf [Accessed 24 May 2015]

McKeon, N., 2009. FAO: A Food Battle Won [online]. Available at:

http://viacampesina.org/en/index.php/main-issues-mainmenu-27/food-sovereignty-and-trade-mainmenu-38/779-fao-a-food-battle-won [Accessed 24 May 2015]

Peters, B.G., and J., Pierre, 1998. Governance without government? Rethinking public administration. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 8 (2): 223-243. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search:

http://jpart.oxfordjournals.org.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/content/8/2/223.full.pdf+html [Accessed 21 April 2015]

Scharpf, F.W., 1999. Governing in Europe: Effective and democratic? Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Schutter, de, O., 2012. Reshaping Global Governance: The Case of the Right to Food. *Global Policy*, 3 (4): 480-483. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search:

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/doi/10.1111/j.1758-5899.2012.00203.x/epdf [Accessed 2 April 2015]

Schmidt, V.A., 2013. Democracy and legitimacy in the European Union revisited: input, output and 'throughput'. *Political Studies*, 61 (1): 2-22. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search: <a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/doi/10.1111/j.1467-9248.2012.00962.x/epdf">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/doi/10.1111/j.1467-9248.2012.00962.x/epdf</a> [Accessed 27 April 2015]

Suchman, M.C., 1995. Managing legitimacy: Strategic and institutional approaches. *Academy of Management Review*, 20 (3): 571-610. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search: <a href="http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/stable/pdf/258788.pdf">http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/stable/pdf/258788.pdf</a> [Accessed 10 April 2015]

UN, 2015a. United Nations Global Issues [online]. Available at:

http://www.un.org/en/globalissues/democracy/democracy\_and\_un.shtml [Accessed 3 May 2015]

UN, 2015b. *Overview | United Nations* [online]. Available at: <a href="http://www.un.org/en/sections/about-un/overview/index.html">http://www.un.org/en/sections/about-un/overview/index.html</a> [Accessed 3 May 2015]

UNDP, 2015a. *Millennium Development Goals | UNDP* [online]. Available at: <a href="http://www.undp.org/mdg/">http://www.undp.org/mdg/</a> [Accessed 6 April 2015]

UNDP, 2015b. *Delivering the Post-2015 Development Agenda | UNDP* [online]. Available at: <a href="http://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/mdg/delivering-the-post-2015-development-agenda/">http://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/mdg/delivering-the-post-2015-development-agenda/</a> [Accessed 6 April 2015]

Wachhaus, A., 2014. Governance beyond government. *Administration & Society*, 46 (5): 573-593. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search:

http://aas.sagepub.com.ezproxy.library.wur.nl/content/46/5/573.full.pdf+html [Accessed 21 April 2015]

Weatherford, M.S., 1992. Measuring Political Legitimacy. *The American Political Science Review*, 86 (1): 149-166. Available through Wageningen UR Library Global Search:

http://www.jstor.org/stable/1964021 [Accessed 22 April 2015]